IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 17-0151

MICHELLE R. SKADBURG,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

GARY GATELY and WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.
Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR CERRO GORDO COUNTY
THE HONORABLE RUSTIN DAVENPORT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

PETER C. RILEY AT0006611
TOM RILEY LAW FIRM, P.L.C.
4040 First Avenue NE
P.O. Box 998
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-0998
Ph.: (319) 363-4040
Fax: (319) 363-9789
E-mail: peterr@trlf.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT,
MICHELLE R. SKADBURG

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING SKADBURG'S MALPRACTICE CLAIM BASED ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?

AUTHORITIES

Baines v. Blenderman

223 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 1974)

Dudden v. Goodman

543 N.W.2d 624 (Iowa App. 1995)

Franzen v. Deere & Co.

377 N.W.2d 660 (Iowa 1985)

Millwright v. Romer

322 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 1982)

McVey v. National Organization Service, Inc.

719 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2006)

Neylan v. Moser

400 N.W.2d 538, (Iowa 1987)

Pride v. Peterson

173 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 1970)

Van Overbeke v. Youberg

540 N.W.2d 273 (Iowa 1995)

Venard v. Winter

524 N.W.2d 163 (Iowa 1994)

Vossoughi v. Polaschek

859 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2015)

Wilkinson v. Harrington

104 R.I. 224, 243 A.2d 745 (1968)

STATUTORY:

Iowa Code Section 614.1(4)

Iowa Code Section 633.433

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f)

ROUTING STATEMENT PER IOWA R. APP. P. 6.903(2)(d)

A number of legal and medical malpractice cases, most recently Vossoughi v. Polaschek, 859 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2015), have addressed when an injured plaintiff has actual or imputed knowledge of the elements of a cause of action. The impact of the continuous representation or treatment rule on Statutes of Limitations is uncertain in Iowa. Either could make this a case presenting substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f). However, the facts of the case concerning Michelle Skadburg's lack of knowledge of any cause of action against her attorney during the course of representation, as shown by her email correspondence, is sufficiently clear under the principles enunciated in existing authorities that the case should be appropriate for retention.* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

*Should have said "transfer."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

Michelle Skadburg received \$20,000.00 of life insurance and \$87,054.65 from a 401k as designated beneficiary when her mother died. These funds passed to Skadburg outside of probate and were hers to keep regardless of her mother's debts. A personal representative has limited authority to pay a decedent's debts prior to the expiration of the claims period. However, Skadburg's attorney, Gary Gately of Whitfield & Eddy, P.L.C., not only failed to advise Skadburg of her limited authority, but told her to pay her mother's bills and keep the rest of the money, without determining the extent of Barbara Haffner's debts. Skadburg exhausted these funds paying her mother's debts.

Gately/Whitfield & Eddy assert Skadburg's claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations, and rely on email communications from Skadburg to Gately discussing the problems resulting from Skadburg paying her mother's debts. A careful review of the emails show they do not support the statute of limitations defense. It is clear Skadburg assumed she was at fault in paying the debts, and there is no evidence Gately ever advised Skadburg he was responsible.

RELEVANT PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Plaintiff-Appellant Michelle Skadburg commenced this action against Defendants-Appellees Gary Gately and Whitfield & Eddy, P.L.C. on August 19, 2015. (August 19, 2015 Petition and Jury Demand, App. 1-2) Defendants-Appellees Gately and Whitfield & Eddy answered. (November 20, 2015 Answer, App. 3-5)

Gately/Whitfield & Eddy filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (August 18, 2016 Motion for Summary Judgment As a Matter of Law, App. 6; August 18, 2016 Defendants' Statement of Undisputed Facts Supporting Motion for Summary Judgment (hereafter Gately Facts), App. 7-10; August 18, 2016 Brief and Argument in Support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment) Skadburg resisted. (September 14, 2016 Resistance to Motion for Summary Judgment, App. 11-12; September 14, 2016 Response to Statement of Undisputed Facts and Statement of Additional Facts (hereafter Skadburg Response), App. 13-18; September 15, 2016 Supplemental Response to Defendants' Statement of Undisputed Facts and Plaintiff's Statement of Additional Facts (hereafter Skadburg Supplemental Response), App. 19-27; September 15, 2016 Plaintiff's Memorandum of Authorities In Support of Resistance to Motion for

Summary Judgment) Gately/Whitfield & Eddy replied. (October 3, 2016 Defendants' Reply Brief, App. 28-43, with Attachment A, App. 44, Attachment B, App. 45, Attachment C, App. 46, Attachment D, App. 47-48) Hearing on the Motion was held on October 10, 2016.* (October 10, 2016 Order, App. 49) The arguments were reported. (October 10, 2016 Court Reporter Memorandum and Certificate)

The Court granted the Gately/Whitfield & Eddy Motion and dismissed Skadburg's claim. (November 28, 2016 Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment, App. 53-58) Skadburg filed a Motion for Enlargement of Findings. (December 13, 2016 Motion for Enlargement of Findings, App. 59-61) Gately/Whitfield & Eddy resisted. (December 23, 2016 Defendants' Resistance to Plaintiff's Motion to Enlarge, App. 62-63) The Court denied the Motion. (December 27, 2016 Order, App. 64-65) Skadburg filed Notice of Appeal. (January 26, 2017 Notice of Appeal, App. 66-67)

*The Proof Brief erroneously said September 19, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Barbara Haffner died August 20, 2008. Michelle Skadburg is her daughter and sole heir. (Petition ¶¶ 1 and 2, App. 1; Answer, App. 3; Gately Facts, No. 2, App. 8) Gary Gately is an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Iowa and practiced law with the firm of Whitfield & Eddy, P.L.C., a professional limited liability company licensed to engage in the practice of law in the State of Iowa. (Petition, ¶¶ 4, 5 and 6, App. 1; Answer, App. 3-4) On November 6, 2008, Skadburg was appointed Administrator of the estate of Barbara Haffner and designated Gary Gately of Whitfield & Eddy as her attorney. (Petition, ¶¶ 8, 9, App. 4; Answer, App. 9-10) On December 7, 2008, the Clerk of Court issued Letters of Appointment to Skadburg. (Gately Facts, ¶ 2, App. 8; Skadburg Response, App. 13) On November 7, 2008, Skadburg signed the Notice of Appointment and Notice to Creditors. (Gately Facts, No. 4, App. 8; Skadburg Response, App. 13)

The Haffner Estate was insolvent and Barbara Haffner's debts substantially exceeded her probate assets. Michelle Skadburg received \$20,000.00 as the designated beneficiary of a life insurance policy and \$87,054.65 as a designated beneficiary of her mother's

401k. Skadburg used these funds to pay her mother's debts. Gately did not advise Skadburg that her ability to pay debts until four months after the second publication were very limited. In fact, Gately told Skadburg to pay all the debts and keep the money that was left. Gately never told Skadburg the proceeds from the 401k and life insurance were exempt from any claims against the estate and that Skadburg could keep the life insurance and 401k proceeds. Gately never asked Skadburg to find out what the bills were or what assets her mother had that would be subject to estate claims. (Skadburg Supplemental Response, ¶ 14, incorporating Skadburg's Answers to Interrogatories, App. 19, 21-24)

Gately/Whitfield & Eddy rely on three email communications to support their position Skadburg had actual or inquiry notice of Gately's negligence more than five years before Skadburg filed suit. Two of the emails are attached to the Gately/Whitfield & Eddy Reply and one was referred to in the Gately Facts.

The January 30, 2009 email from Skadburg to Gately is attached to the Gately Reply Brief, Attachment A, App. 44, but was

not referenced in the initial Statement of Facts.¹ The verbatim

contents of this email are as follows:

Gary Gately

From: Rod and Michelle Skadburg [mskadburg@jumpgate.net]
Sent: Friday, January 30, 2009 5:53 PM
To: Gary Gately
Subject: Barbara Haffner Estate

Gary, I apologize if I sounded down today on the phone. I know it may seem minor to you to worry about our tax liability, but it is just the last straw in a long list of things. My husband had a kidney transplant last year after spending several years very sick and off work. He is also waiting for another transplant. We just found out today that his lupus is acting up and attacking the new kidney which means more chemo for him in the upcoming months. My daughter was hit in a hit and run accident on Friday (thankfully not hurt) that totaled her car so we have to replace that now. We are doing ok, but financially things are tight for us. Medical bills for my husband and my son. We are paying off my oldest son's funeral as he didn't have life insurance when he died. (this is the case that Tom is working on for us – and also incurring large expenses as we move ahead on that). (sic)

Anyway, this news today was kind of sickening for me. I would like to think I would have done the right thing and paid off her debts even if I wasn't legally obligated to, but for just a moment I imagined a life without financial worry – paying off our medical debts and catching up for the first time in 4 years would have been a huge burden off our shoulders. Just the thought of the difference between getting a few thousand in tax refund to possibly owing some was just a downer today.

I should have given you the entire list of debts and asked for more specific advice on what to do, but I just took you at your

¹ While not referenced in the initial Statement of Facts, it was disclosed in the litigation and its genuineness is not disputed.

word to pay the debts and did that. Anyway, it was her money and her debt and no use second guessing now as they have been paid and that is that. We will figure out who has to claim what on what taxes and go from there. I came home and had a good cry and I hope that things will seem better tomorrow.

I just wanted you to understand that I wasn't trying to be... I don't even know what the word is, but I am sure worrying about my tax liability seemed silly to you, but I just have a lot of worry and that was one more thing.

I appreciate all of your help with this estate and like I said, hopefully things will seem better tomorrow. Hopefully, Tom will be successful with our lawsuit and that will ease some of our burden. I did just want you to know that I know you have done the best you could for us and all of my issues piling up are not your fault so I apologize if I seemed out of sorts about all this!

Have a good weekend. Michelle Skadburg

App. 44.

Gately/Whitfield & Eddy also rely on a December 30, 2009 email. This is Attachment B to the Gately Reply, App. 45, and referenced in Gately Facts, No. 5, App. 8-9. The verbatim contents of this email are as follows:

Gary Gately

From: Rod and Michelle Skadburg [mskadburg@jumpgate.net]
Sent: Wednesday, December 30, 2009 5:03 PM
To: Tom Reavely; Gary Gately
Subject: Barbara Haffner estate

Hello! Just wondered where we are at with things.

Gary – I emailed you that I did not receive the tax forms, but haven't heard in response or new forms. Have you sent those?

What else do we need to do to close this estate?

Tom – Dianna had mentioned that you wanted a conference call, but I didn't hear back as to when.

I would really like to get this estate closed as I am sure you would. Please advise what needs to be done – email is best way to reach me probably. I check it every evening.

As far as the fees, Tom had told me when this started that he would charge me \$200 - \$300 to do this. I do realize there has been more work involved so I am willing to negotiate on this, but I will be honest, not willing to pay the usual fee. The reduced rate is why we decided to handle this with your firm and not stay local. We really needed just an estate opened to close her bank account and to handle Disney. We hired a Florida attorney to handle the Disney stuff. It seems there has been miscommunication in all of this. Paying off mom's debt with money that should not have been part of the estate was one of the issues that has arisen. Gary and I have talked through this and what is done is done, but please take these kinds of things into consideration when setting the fee.

Again, I just want to get this done and completed. Please advise what is needed to get this closed!

Thanks so very much to both of you in advance for your assistance in getting this closed up.

Michelle Skadburg

Finally, Gately/Whitfield & Eddy rely on a March 22, 2010 email.

This was not attached, but was referenced as Gately Facts, No. 6, App. 9. Skadburg's Statement of Facts, paragraph 6, disputed it was the document that was produced as page 387, and attach the page

387 that was produced. However, Skadburg does not dispute she sent the email and it was accurately quoted.

In the March 26, 2010 email, Skadburg asked Gately:

-is any of the money paid to other creditors refundable since those should not have been paid out of the estate assets?
Please advise if there is a process to get those Debt written off and pursue a refund of that money paid.

There is nothing to show Gately ever responded to any of the statements or inquiries in Skadburg's emails.

The Court entered an Order August 18, 2010 approving the Final Report and discharging the Administrator. (Reply, Attachment D, App. 47) Billing records show Gately provided services for the estate through at least August 30, 2010 and forwarded the Order approving the Final Report and discharging the Administrator by letter of August 31, 2010. (Skadburg's Response, ¶ 12 and attachments, App. 14, 17-18)

On February 12, 2014, Skadburg signed an authorization to her present counsel to obtain Whitfield & Eddy records. (Gately Facts No. 8, App. 9) On March 13, 2014, Skadburg, through counsel, requested the file. (Gately Facts No. 9, App. 10) The Clerk of Court filed Skadburg's Petition against Gately/Whitfield & Eddy on Wednesday, August 19, 2015. (Gately Facts No. 11, App. 10) The

Petition was submitted August 18, 2015. (Skadburg Facts, ¶ 13, App. 14)

Skadburg learned after retaining new counsel that claims against the estate should not be paid until four months after the second publication of the estate notice except, under certain circumstances, debts for funeral, burial and last illness or other claims a Judge orders can be paid. (Skadburg Supplemental Response, incorporating Answer to Interrogatory No. 2, App. 22-23)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING SKADBURG'S MALPRACTICE CLAIM BASED ON THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?

PRESERVATION OF ERROR

Skadburg preserved error by resisting the Motion for Summary Judgment and specifically by responding to and disputing the movants' Statement of Facts, and by stating additional facts.

(Resistance to Motion for Summary Judgment, App. 11-12; Skadburg Response, App. 13-18; Skadburg Supplemental Response, App. 19-27) Skadburg further preserved error by filing a Motion for Enlargement of Findings, App. 59-61, prior to filing a Notice of Appeal, App. 66-67.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The grant of summary judgment is reviewed to correct errors at law. Summary judgment is appropriate when the moving party demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. We afford the nonmoving party “every legitimate inference that can be reasonably deduced from the evidence”—and if the review of the evidence pertaining to a particular issue shows “reasonable minds can differ on how the issue should be resolved,” an order entering summary judgment on the issue must be vacated or reversed.

Vossoughi v. Polaschek, 859 N.W.2d 643, 649 (Iowa 2015). Absent stipulations by the parties, a statement of uncontroverted facts by the moving party does not constitute part of the record, and the moving party’s factual allegations rise or fall on the actual contents of the evidentiary material filed. McVey v. National Organization Service, Inc., 719 N.W.2d 801, 803 (Iowa 2006).

ARGUMENT

A claim for legal malpractice is governed by the five-year statute of limitations set forth in Iowa Code Section 614.1(4). Venard v. Winter, 524 N.W.2d 163, 166 (Iowa 1994). Claims based on

negligence do not accrue, and the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the injured plaintiff “has actual or imputed knowledge of all the elements of the action.” Vossoughi v. Polaschek, 859 N.W.2d 643, 649 (Iowa 2015)

Skadburg does not dispute that Gately’s negligence occurred from the time of her appointment on November 6, 2008 through December of 2008 when Skadburg and Gately discussed the US Bank credit card, Gately told her to pay that bill and refer all creditors to him, and Skadburg told Gately all bills were paid. Skadburg admits her Petition was filed more than five years after the acts of negligence. However, Skadburg does not believe the Statute of Limitations bars her claim because of the discovery rule, fraudulent concealment and Gately’s continued representation.

A. Skadburg Did Not Have Actual or Inquiry Notice of the Elements of Her Claim Until After The Representation Ended.

Vossoughi v. Polaschek, 859 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2015)

recognized legal malpractice is a negligence claim and the Statute of Limitations does not begin to run:

until the injured party “has actual or imputed knowledge of all the elements of the action.”

859 N.W.2d at 649. The Court concluded:

Accordingly, we reaffirm the statute of limitations does not begin to run on a legal malpractice claim until the cause of action accrues. The cause of action accrues when the client sustains an actual, nonspeculative injury and has actual or imputed knowledge⁴ of the other elements of the claim.

⁴ Knowledge could be imputed through the doctrine of inquiry notice. We have said “[t]he [limitations] period begins at the time the [plaintiff] is on inquiry notice.” *Franzen*, 377 N.W.2d at 662. “A person is placed on inquiry notice when a person gains sufficient knowledge of facts that would put that person on notice of the existence of a problem or potential problem.”

859 N.W.2d at 652.

Vossoughi v. Polaschek relied on Franzen v. Deere & Co., 377 N.W.2d 660, 662 (Iowa 1985). In Franzen, a farmer was injured while working inside a forage wagon manufactured by Deere. Franzen knew he was injured and asserted a claim against the owner of the wagon. Later, more than two years after the injury, Franzen tried to assert a claim against Deere & Co. Franzen stated:

The person charged with knowing on the date of the accident what a reasonable investigation would have disclosed.

...

Moreover, the duty to investigate does not depend on the exact knowledge of the nature of the problem that caused the injury. It is sufficient that the person be aware that a problem existed. One purpose of inquiry is to ascertain its exact nature.

377 N.W.2d at 662.

It is significant Franzen v. Deere & Co. involved a physical injury occurring at a discreet date. Franzen v. Deere & Co.,

distinguished Baines v. Blenderman, 223 N.W.2d 199, 202 (Iowa 1974) which found the plaintiff diligent in investigating loss of vision after surgery where he was assured by his physician the condition was a normal and temporary side effect:

A trier of fact could find the patient had no reasonable means of knowing the doctor's advice was wrong.

377 N.W.2d at 633.

Dudden v. Goodman, 543 N.W.2d 624, 626 (Iowa App. 1995)

recognized this distinction in the context of a legal malpractice case:

But we are not convinced Franzen applies to this case. In Franzen, Franzen knew he was injured when his arm was caught in the revolving beater mechanism. He had a duty to investigate once he knew he had been injured. Id. However, the executor in the present case did not know the estate had been injured when the taxes were paid in 1983. There was nothing to put her on notice. The executor had a right to rely on the superior skill and knowledge of her attorney Goodman. See Millwright v. Romer, 322 N.W.2d 30, 34 (Iowa 1982). In this respect, and as discussed in subsequent paragraphs, we conclude the rule set out in Franzen is not applicable to this case.

Differences between the nature of the injury is important in determining whether there was implied notice. If a person sustains a physical injury, the person knows they have been injured. That person has a duty to investigate all potential parties who may be responsible for their physical injury. An administrator represented by

an attorney in connection with probating an estate may suffer adverse economical consequences which may have nothing to do with their lawyer's advice. That fact a loss or injury is sustained does not put the person on inquiry notice that the reason for the injury is the lawyer's breach of duty, one of the elements the injured party must know for implied notice.

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