THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO 17-0151

MICHELLE R. SKADBURG,

Plaintiff- Appellant,

-VS

GARY GATELY and WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.

Defendants-Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR CERRO GORDO COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RUSTIN DAVENPORT, JUDGE

APPELLEES' BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

CRITELLI LAW, P.C.

Lylea Dodson Critelli, AT 001869

Nick Critelli, AT 001865

317 Sixth Avenue, Suite 950

Des Moines, IA 5030

PH: 515-243-3122

EM: Lylea@CritelliLaw.com

EM: Nick@CritelliLaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEES

GARY GATELY AND WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS APPROPRIATE

Preservation of Error

In view of the Supreme Court's Order denying Gately's and Whitfield's motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, Gately and Whitfield agree that Skadburg has preserved error on the Motion for Summary Judgment.

Standard of Review

Gately and Whitfield agree a summary judgment is reviewed to correct errors of law.

Argument

Introduction

The statute of limitations for Skadburg's claim for alleged legal malpractice is five years. Iowa Code § 614.1(4). Skadburg concedes that her lawsuit was filed over five years after the alleged negligent acts.³ To excuse her late filing, Skadburg invokes the discovery rule, fraudulent concealment, the continuing representation rule, or an amalgamation of all three theories. None of the theories Skadburg advances excuse her untimely filing of this matter.

³ Reference to Appellant Brief page 15

Where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact summary judgment is appropriate. Iowa R. Civ. P 1.981(3). There is no factual issue surrounding the application of the statute of limitations to Skadburg's claim.

Skadburg's own emails establish her knowledge of the facts she contends establish negligence as early as January 30, 2009 or as late as March 26, 2010. Her own words in each of the emails demonstrate her knowledge the alleged error upon which she bases her lawsuit:

- On January 30, 2009 she wrote: "I would like to think that I would have done the right thing and paid off her (mother's) debts even if I wasn't legally obligated to". (Emphasis added, App.p.44).
- Again, on December 30, 2009 she acknowledged: "Paying off mom's debt with money that should not have been part of the estate is one issue that has arisen" (App.p.45).
- Finally, on March 26, 2010 she asked: "is any of the money paid to creditors refundable *since those should not have been paid out of the estate assets?* (Emphasis in Ruling, App.p.55).

Without referencing Skadburg's January 30, 2009 email, the trial court found Skadburg's later two emails demonstrated her knowledge of the allegedly incorrect advice. (App.p.55) Skadburg had actual knowledge of the alleged mistake on December 30, 2009 and March 26, 2010.

Applying the discovery rule, the statute of limitations expired five years from the date of any or all of these emails, on January 30, 2014,

December 30, 2014 or March 26, 2015. Even applying Skadburg's continuous representation theory Ms. Skadburg missed the mark by one day. Skadburg's lawsuit, filed on August 19, 2015, was untimely. Under any of the legal theories she suggests, Ms. Skadburg's lawsuit was filed late by either 556 days, 232 days, 146 days or 1 day. The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment and dismissing Skadburg's claim.

A. The trial court was correct in finding that Skadburg had notice of her alleged claim under the discovery rule

On appeal Skadburg concedes that she knew that there was a "problem" because she was not legally obligated to pay her mother's debts with funds passing outside the estate.⁴ Skadburg argues that before she can be charged with actual or imputed notice that her attorney made a mistake she needed to know the critical element of her claim- that her attorney "breached his duty". Skadburg does not cite authority to support this interpretation of the law.

Knowledge of Negligence

The Iowa Supreme Court's analysis of the knowledge component and application of the discovery rule in medical malpractice cases makes clear that discovery of "negligence" is not required to start the limitations period. Rathje v. Mercy Hosp., 745 N.W.2d 443, 462-63 (Iowa 2008). (Making clear "court's continued adherence to the rule that the plaintiff does not need to discover that the doctor was negligent".) Instead, the statute of limitations begins to run from the plaintiff's discovery of the relevant facts

⁴ Reference to Appellant's Proof Brief p. 18

about the alleged injury. *Id. at 462.*

The statute of limitations will not begin to run until the person has actual or imputed knowledge of the facts that support all elements of the action. Franzen v. Deere & Co., 377 N.W.2d 660, 662 (Iowa 1985) The Franzen decision clarified the parameters of the discovery rule with the following language: “It is sufficient that the facts support a cause of action. It is not necessary that the person know that they are actionable. Knowledge of the facts and knowledge they are actionable are distinct and unrelated issues for the purpose of the discovery rule.” Id at 662 . The Iowa Supreme Court further indicated “there was no suggestion in any of the leading cases on the discovery rule that the accrual of the cause of action is postponed until plaintiff learns or should learn of state of the law positing a right of recovery upon facts already known or reasonably known to the plaintiff”. Id at 662 . Thus, the Court has confirmed that it is unnecessary that the plaintiff have a law school understanding of a potential claim to establish notice required under the discovery rule.

Knowledge of Causation

In Ranney v. Parawax Co., 582 N.W 2d 152, 156 (Iowa 1998) the Iowa Supreme Court determined that actual knowledge of causation was not required to begin the statute of limitation period under the discovery rule noting: “if we adopted Ranney’s interpretation of when inquiry notice is triggered, the beginning of the limitations period would be postponed until the successful completion of the plaintiff’s investigation”. Id at 156. Skadburg’s contention that the discovery rule does not apply unless she

“knew the critical element of her claim, specifically that her attorney (allegedly) breached his duty”, is essentially the same causation argument previously rejected by the Iowa Supreme Court in Ranney v. Parawax Co, *Id at 156*.⁵

Even assuming that the law requires Skadburg to recognize the “source of the problem” before she is charged with notice under the discovery rule, her emails establish notice and her belief that her attorney had (allegedly) caused a problem. All three emails demonstrate that as early as the January 30, 2009 Skadburg recognized she had paid debts that she was not “legally” required to pay. (App.p.44). Further, her emails of December 30, 2009 and March 26, 2010 show her recognition that the money she used to pay debts was not part of the estate. The undisputed facts support the trial court’s finding that Skadburg had actual or imputed knowledge of the claim based on (alleged) improper legal advice.

Knowledge of Injury

In a further effort to circumvent the actual or implied knowledge aspect of the discovery rule, Skadburg argues “it is the nature of the injury that is important in determining whether there was implied notice”.⁶

Skadburg argues that “with a physical injury the person knows they have been injured and has a duty to investigate all potential parties who

⁵ Reference to Appellant Brief p. 17-18

⁶ Reference to Appellant Brief p. 17-18

might be responsible for the injury”.⁷ Without citing legal authority, Skadburg contends that an adverse economic loss does not put the person on inquiry notice that the reason for the injury is the lawyer’s breach of duty, one of the elements the injured party must know for implied notice.⁸ Skadburg’s argument is contrary to established authority and ignores the undisputed evidence of her knowledge, as shown by the emails. Franzen v. Deere & Co., 377 N.W.2d at 662.

It is not the nature of the injury that triggers the time limitations clock, but rather the claimant’s knowledge of a problem. Under the discovery rule the statute of limitations begins to run when the injured person discovers or in the exercise of reasonable care should have discovered the alleged wrong. “The duty to investigate does not depend on exact knowledge of the nature of the problem that caused the injury. It is sufficient that the person be aware that a problem existed”. *Id* at 662. Skadburg’s argument that the nature of the injury impacts the determination of “implied notice” is unsupported by the law.

Skadburg’s nature of the injury argument also fails because the undisputed facts establish she knew of the problem. On three separate occasions Skadburg’s emails referred to the alleged problem. The trial court based its finding of Skadburg’s actual knowledge on two of these occasions: The December 2009 and March 26, 2010 emails. (App.p.55).

Under the discovery rule the statute of limitations clock started when

⁷ Reference to Appellant Brief p. 17-18

⁸ Reference to Appellant Brief p. 17-18

Skadburg demonstrated actual knowledge or inquiry notice of the problem upon which her lawsuit is based. On January 30, 2009, December 30, 2009 and March 26, 2010 Skadburg's emails discussed the problem. The trial court found Skadburg had actual or imputed knowledge of an actual or concrete injury on December 30, 2009 or on March 26, 2010. (App.p.55). This was a correct application of the law to the undisputed facts. The summary judgment should be affirmed.

B. The trial court correctly concluded that Skadburg demonstrated no genuine issue of material fact establishing fraudulent concealment as a viable defense to the statute of limitations.

To extend the five year statute of limitations beyond the date of actual notice as established in her emails, Skadburg alleges "fraudulent concealment by silence". The basis for Skadburg's claim was that Gately "did not advise her that he was at fault in the matter of payment of the debts".⁹ The trial court rejected Skadburg's argument that an attorney is required to alert a client to alleged negligence. (App.pp.56-57).

The trial court concluded that Skadburg's emails showed her knowledge of the facts upon which she relies to contend that Gately provided faulty advice. (App.p.57). The trial court correctly distinguished Skadburg's claim from situations involving individuals who were unaware of an alleged harm. (App.p.57). The trial court found Skadburg failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact "establishing that fraudulent concealment by silence would be a viable defense to the statute of

⁹ Reference to Appellant Brief p. 20

limitations”. (App.pp.56-57). The trial court’s ruling is legally correct.

In an effort to satisfy the requirement that there must be temporal separation of the acts of negligence and acts of alleged concealment, Skadburg fashions the theory that Gately “should have told Skadburg that her problems were the result of his bad advice”. The trial court “did not find support that in a situation factually similar to [Skadburg’s] the attorney would be required to alert his or her client to the attorney’s (alleged) negligence”. (App.pp.56-57). On appeal, Skadburg does not cite authority to support the legal proposition that unless a professional admits to liability the statute is tolled.

In Van Overbeke v. Youberg, 540 N.W.2d 273, 276-277 (Iowa 1995) the Iowa Supreme Court rejected a patient’s attempt to use fraudulent concealment by silence to avoid the statute of limitations in a medical negligence case. Patient, Van Overbeke sued her physician for failure to provide a needed injection. Van Overbeke sought to avoid the statute of limitations, arguing that her doctor’s failure to inform her that she needed an injection established fraudulent concealment by silence. The Iowa Supreme Court rejected Van Overbeke’s argument because the facts that she alleged constituted fraudulent concealment were not independent of the alleged acts upon which she relied to establish liability. The Court determined that concealment requires acts independent of and in addition to wrongdoing itself. *Id at 276*. The Iowa Supreme Court recognized: “Failure to disclose that need [for injection], as a ground of liability, cannot be the basis for fraudulent concealment. If it could be, there would effectively be no statute of limitations for negligent failure to inform a

patient.” *Id at 277*. Without the concept of an independent act and temporal separation from the initial wrongful act, there would be no statute of limitations for negligent failure to inform cases. As the Van Overbeke court noted “... to recognize the concept of fraudulent concealment in that case would effectively wipe out the statute of limitations on the fraud claim.” *Id at 276*. By analogy a lawyer’s failure to admit liability (causation) for alleged malpractice cannot form the basis for fraudulent concealment in a legal malpractice claim. Skadburg’s argument, that an attorney’s failure to admit to liability should constitute fraudulent concealment by silence, would effectively eliminate the statute of limitations in malpractice cases. Under Skadburg’s analysis, absent an attorney’s admission of liability, the statute of limitations would never run.

Skadburg also relies on Pride v. Peterson, 173 N.W.2d 549, 555 (Iowa 1970) to support her proposition that an attorney’s failure to confess to alleged negligence will satisfy the affirmative act required under fraudulent concealment. The Pride decision is factually distinguishable. Mrs. Pride was completely unaware of the property sale that formed the basis for her claim of negligence. *Id. at 550-51*. By contrast, Skadburg’s emails reveal that she knew that she was not legally required to pay her mother’s debts. Skadburg’s case is more similar to McClendon v Beck, 569 N.W.2d. 382, 386 (Iowa 1997) in which the Iowa Supreme Court rejected a patient’s claim that physicians concealed the true nature of plaintiff’s injury where they presented “a hopeful prognosis following surgery”. Where the patient had notice of the injury, the patient cannot successfully claim the doctor’s silence concealed the injury. *Id. at 386*.

Skadburg had notice of the alleged problem. She cannot refute the language in her emails written between January 2009 and March 2010. On January 30, 2009 Skadburg wrote: “I would like to think I would have done the right thing and paid off her debts even if I wasn’t legally obligated to.” (App.p.44). On December 30, 2009 Skadburg stated: “It seems that there has been miscommunication in all of this. Paying off mom’s debt with money paid to creditors that should not have been paid out of the estate assets”. (App.p.45). Skadburg even suggested that the firm consider a reduction of the fees charged for the estate work. (App.p.45). Finally Skadburg’s email on March 26, 2010 repeats her reference to “money that should not have been paid out of the estate assets”. (App.p.9 –Undisputed Fact # 6). Her own words demonstrate that as early as January 30, 2009 she alleged there was “legal error” involving the payment of her mother’s bills. (App.p.44).

The trial court’s ruling that Skadburg had not demonstrated genuine issues of material fact to support her claim that the statute of limitations should be tolled due to fraudulent concealment should be affirmed.

C. The trial court correctly refused to apply the doctrine of continuing representation.

The trial court ruled that the continuing representation doctrine was inapplicable to Skadburg’s case. (App.pp.55-56). Based on Skadburg’s emails, the trial court concluded Skadburg learned of the (alleged) mistake/negligence prior to the cessation of the attorney-client relationship. (App.pp.55-56). The trial court found the continuing representation doctrine does not apply when the individual knows or in the

exercise of reasonable care should have discovered the alleged wrong. (App.pp.55-56). Accordingly, the trial court distinguished Skadburg's claim from situations involving individuals who were unaware of alleged harm until years later. (App.p.56). The trial court's ruling is correct.

To support her contention that the statute of limitations did not begin until after Gately's representation ended¹⁰, Skadburg relies on the Court of Appeals decision in Dudden v. Goodman, 543 N.W.2d 624 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995). The Dudden v. Goodman court acknowledged that the discovery rule, which is based on notice, is still applicable in factual settings where the injured person discovers or in the exercise of reasonable care should have discovered the alleged wrongful act. SEE: Id. at 626 citing Franzen v. Deere & Co., 377 N.W.2d 660, 662 (Iowa 1985).

Mrs. Dudden had no notice there was a problem with the estate taxes, until an accountant advised her of the error. The Court of Appeals distinguished Dudden v. Goodman from Franzen v. Deere stating:

“The Franzen case is persuasive authority under those factual settings where the injured person discovers or in the exercise of reasonable care should have discovered the allegedly wrong act. We are not convinced Franzen applies to this case. Franzen knew he was injured when his arm was caught in the revolving beater mechanism. He had a duty to investigate once he knew he had been injured. Id. However, the executor in the present case did not know that estate had been injured when the taxes were paid in 1983. There was nothing to put her on notice.”

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